

AperTO - Archivio Istituzionale Open Access dell'Università di Torino

CD371-positive pediatric B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: propensity to lineage switch and slow early response to treatment

This is a pre print version of the following article:

Original Citation:

Availability:

This version is available <http://hdl.handle.net/2318/2008230> since 2024-08-29T12:26:47Z

Published version:

DOI:10.1182/blood.2023021952

Terms of use:

Open Access

Anyone can freely access the full text of works made available as "Open Access". Works made available under a Creative Commons license can be used according to the terms and conditions of said license. Use of all other works requires consent of the right holder (author or publisher) if not exempted from copyright protection by the applicable law.

(Article begins on next page)

Article title

CD371+ pediatric B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: propensity to lineage switch and slow early response to treatment

Running title

CD371 in pediatric ~~B-cell ALL~~ acute lymphoblastic leukemia

Authors

Barbara Buldini^{1,2}, Elena Varotto¹, Margarita Maurer-Granofszky³, Giuseppe Gaipa⁴, Angela Schumich³, Monika Brüggemann⁵, Ester Mejsnikova⁶, Giovanni Cazzaniga^{4,7}, Ondrej Hrusak⁶, Monika Szczepanowski⁵, Pamela Scarparo¹, Martin Zimmermann⁸, Sabine Strehl³, Dagmar Schinnerl³, Marketa Zaliova⁶, Leonid Karawajew⁹, Jean-Pierre Bourquin¹⁰, Tamar Feuerstein¹¹, Gunnar Cario¹², Julia Alten¹², Anja Möricke¹², Alessandra Biffi^{1,2}, Rosanna Parasole¹³, Franca Fagioli¹⁴, Maria Grazia Valsecchi⁷, Andrea Biondi^{15,7}, Franco Locatelli¹⁶, Andishe Attarbaschi³, Martin Schrappe¹², Valentino Conter¹⁵, Giuseppe Basso^{11*}, and Michael N Dworzak^{3,17*}

G.B.^{†} and M.N.D.^{*} contributed equally to this study.*

Affiliations

¹Pediatric Hematology, Oncology and Stem Cell Transplant Division, Maternal and Child Health Department, University of Padova, Padova, Italy.

²Pediatric Onco-Hematology, Stem Cell Transplant and Gene Therapy Laboratory, Istituto di Ricerca Pediatrica (IRP) - Città della Speranza, 35127, Padova, Italy

³St. Anna Children's Cancer Research Institute, Vienna, Austria

⁴Tettamanti Center, IRCCS San Gerardo dei Tintori, Monza, Italy

⁵Department of Hematology, University Medical Center Schleswig-Holstein, Kiel, Germany

⁶Department of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology, 2nd Faculty of Medicine, Charles University and University Hospital Motol, Prague, Czech Republic

⁷School of Medicine and Surgery, University of Milano-Bicocca, Monza, Italy

⁸Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany

⁹Department of Pediatric Oncology/Hematology, Charité Universitätsmedizin, Berlin, Germany

¹⁰Division of Oncology and Children's Research Center, University Children's Hospital, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

¹¹Immune Phenotype Laboratory, Department of Hematology-Oncology, Schneider Children's Medical Center of Israel, Petach Tikva, Israel

¹²Department of Pediatrics, University Medical Center Schleswig-Holstein, Kiel, Germany

¹³Department of Oncology, Hematology and Cellular Therapy, Santobono-Pausilipon Children's Hospital, Naples, Italy

¹⁴Pediatric Onco-Hematology, City of Science and Health of Torino, Regina Margherita Children's Hospital, Torino, Italy

¹⁵Pediatrics, IRCCS San Gerardo dei Tintori, Monza, Italy

¹⁶Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Department of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology, IRCCS Ospedale Pediatrico Bambino Gesù, Rome, Italy

¹⁷St. Anna Children's Hospital, Department of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Corresponding author

Barbara Buldini

Pediatric Hematology, Oncology and Stem Cell Transplant Division

Maternal and Child Health Department

University of Padova

Via Giustiniani 3, 35128 Padova, Italy.

E-mail: barbara.buldini@unipd.it

Phone number: 0039 049 818030

Word counts:

Abstract: **250248** words

Text: **39783884** words

Figure count: 4; Table count: 5 Reference count: 45

Scientific category: Lymphoid Neoplasia

Key points

- Pediatric CD371-positive B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia shows transient lineage switch and slow early response to treatment.
- Accurate immunophenotypic identification of lineage switch is mandatory to properly assess MRD by flow-cytometry.

Abstract

In the effort to improve immunophenotyping and minimal residual disease (MRD) assessment in acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), the international Berlin-Frankfurt-Münster (iBFM) Flow Network introduced the myelomonocytic marker CD371 in 2014, for a large prospective characterization with a long follow-up. In the present study, we aimed to investigate the clinical and biological features of CD371-positive (CD371^{pos}) pediatric BCP-ALL. From June 2014 to February 2017, 1812 pediatric patients with newly diagnosed BCP-ALLs enrolled in trial AIEOP-BFM ALL 2009 were evaluated as either screening (n=843, Italian centers) or validation cohort (n=969, other iBFM centers). Laboratory assessment at diagnosis consisted of morphological, immunophenotypic, and genetic analysis on bone marrow –or peripheral blood ~~or bone marrow~~ samples. Response assessment relied on morphology, multiparametric flow-cytometry (MFC), and PCR-MRD. Overall, 160/1812 (8.8%) BCP-ALLs were CD371^{pos} at diagnosis. T–this findings–and correlated with older age (p<0.001), lower *ETV6::RUNX1* frequency (p<0.001), immunophenotypic immaturity (p<0.001), strong expression of CD34, and of CD45 (p<0.05). During induction therapy, CD371^{pos} BCP-ALLs showed a transient myelomonocytic switch (mm-SW: up to 65.4% of samples at Day 15) and frequently an inferior response to chemotherapy [Slow Early Response by PCR-MRD, p<0.001]. However, Tthe 5-year event-free survival was 88.3%. Among 420 patients from the validation cohort, 27/28 (96.4%) cases positive for *DUX4*–fusions were CD371^{pos}. In conclusion, we comprehensively characterized CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL in the largest pediatric cohort. CD371 is the most sensitive marker of transient mm-SW, whose recognition is essential for proper MFC-MRD assessment. CD371^{pos} is associated to poor early-treatment response, although a good outcome can be reached after MRD-based ALL-related therapies.

Introduction

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is the most common childhood cancer, accounting for about 20% of all malignancies under 20 years of age.^{1,2} In the last decades, remarkable progress has been achieved in the outcome of children with ALL, the current survival rate being around 90%.³⁻⁵ Nonetheless, relapse still occurs in a significant proportion of ALL patients and is associated with a poor prognosis.⁶ Therefore, it is mandatory to appropriately stratify patients and treat them with a tailored therapeutic regimen.

Multiparametric flow-cytometry (MFC) is fundamental in the diagnosis and monitoring of ALL treatment response.⁷⁻⁹ Immunophenotypic characterization provides the diagnostic basis to identify and assign blasts ~~s-cells~~ to their specific ~~hematopoietic~~-B-, T-, or myeloid lineage.⁷ Nowadays, MFC is used in pediatric ALL therapeutic protocols to evaluate the response to therapy and stratify patients into risk groups based on minimal residual disease (MRD) assessment on day 15 (D15) of induction therapy (induction).

Several new markers have been recently introduced in the ~~continuous~~ effort to improve ~~both the~~-ALL immunophenotype characterization at diagnosis and ~~the~~-MFC-MRD accuracy. Among them, CD371 (aliases CLL-1, CLEC12A, MICL, KLRL1, or DCAL-2) is a 30kD type II transmembrane glycoprotein with extracellular C-type lectin domains, belonging to the C-type lectin family.¹⁰ It is expressed on normal monocytes, granulocytes, basophils, and most of ~~the~~-acute myeloid leukemia (AML) blasts and leukemic stem cells, being recently indicated as a promising target for ~~AML immunotherapy~~the immunotherapy of AML.¹⁰⁻¹⁴

In 2014, several national MFC-reference laboratories of the international Berlin-Frankfurt-Münster ~~(iBFM)~~-Flow Network ~~(iBFM-FN)~~, including the *Associazione Italiana Ematologia Oncologia Pediatrica* (AIEOP) reference laboratory in Padova (Padova Lab), introduced CD371 in the antibody panel for ALL immunophenotyping at diagnosis. This allowed us characterizing a subset of pediatric B-cell precursor ALL (BCP-ALL) with aberrant expression of CD371 at diagnosis, recently described as associated with *DUX4* rearrangement ~~(*DUX4*^{pos})~~.¹⁵ We also found that some of these CD371-positive (CD371^{pos}) BCP-ALL cases showed monocytic population early during induction ~~therapy~~. A similar phenomenon was previously observed in BCP-ALLs with aberrant expression of CD2 antigen and the absence of *KMT2A*

rearrangements; it was interpreted as a transient switch (SW) to the monocytic lineage.^{16,17} Generally, SW is defined as a lineage variation of blast immunophenotype during first-line therapy^{16,18} or at relapse,¹⁹⁻²¹ ~~being~~ observed in adults and children.^{19,20,22} SW is potentially associated with a poor prognosis²³ and frequently ~~associated~~ with *KMT2A* rearrangements^{18,24,25} or *BCR::ABL1*.²⁶ Notably, the SW phenomenon during induction ~~phase~~ carries a risk of misdiagnosis and/or erroneous interpretation of MFC-MRD findings.

These observations prompted us to investigate the clinical and biological features of CD371^{pos} pediatric BCP-ALLs on a consecutive screening cohort from AIEOP and on a validation cohort collected from other ~~iBFM Flow Network~~ iBFM-FN centers.

Methods

a. Study population and diagnostic workup – screening cohort

From June 2014 to February 2017, 883 children aged 1 to less than 18 years with newly diagnosed *BCR::ABL1*-negative BCP-ALL, were consecutively enrolled in the AIEOP-BFM ALL 2009 study (EudraCT Number: 2007-004270-43) in AIEOP centers.²⁷

According to the protocol, the diagnosis of BCP-ALL was based on morphologic, cytochemical, immunophenotypic, and genetic analysis [karyotype, DNA index, presence of fusion genes *ETV6::RUNX1*, *TCF3::PBX1*, *KMT2A::AFF1*].²⁷ Response to therapy was assessed in peripheral blood (PB) on day 8 (D8, morphology), and bone marrow (BM) samples on D15 (MFC-MRD), day 33 (D33, BM morphology and PCR-MRD) and day 78 (D78, BM PCR-MRD).²⁷ PB and BM specimens were collected and centralized to the reference laboratories for morphology, immunophenotyping, MFC-MRD, molecular diagnosis, screening of IG/TR rearrangements, and PCR-MRD analysis.²⁷ Risk group stratification included three subgroups (standard, intermediate, high) relying on biological features (hypodiploidy, *KMT2A::AFF1*) and response to therapy on D8, D15, D33, and D78 (Supplemental Table 1).²⁷~~Risk group stratification according to protocols summarized in Supplemental Table 1.~~

Local institutional ethical committees approved PB and BM samplings along with the international protocol. In compliance with the Declaration of Helsinki, written

informed consent to use excess diagnostic material for research purposes was obtained from parents or guardians.

b. Multiparametric flow-cytometry analysis

PB and BM samples were processed and analyzed in the Padova Lab, according to previously described standard operating procedures.^{7,28,29} We evaluated CD371 expression using CD371-PE (clone 50C1, Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey, USA) for diagnostic immunophenotyping and CD371-PC5.5 (clone 50C1, BioLegend, San Diego California, USA) included in the dry 10-color preformulated DuraClone 10 Color Custom Mix (Beckman Coulter, Inc., Brea, CA, USA) for MFC-MRD monitoring.

Briefly, we performed immunophenotyping at diagnosis on erythrocyte-lysed whole BM samples, as reported.²⁸ BM samples were sent from AIEOP Centers at ambient temperature and processed within 24 hours from collection (for additional details, see “Supplemental data”). We graded antigen expression in negative, weak-positive, strong-positive, and partial-positive, as per the *AIEOP-BFM Consensus Guidelines 2016 for ALL immunophenotyping*, comparing the fluorescence shift and distribution pattern of the blasts ~~s-cells~~ to the appropriate negative control.^{7,28,30-32}

We defined BCP-ALL by the presence of a leukemia ~~ae blast~~ population with a strong positivity of at least two antigens among CD19, CD10, iCD22, iCD79a.^{28,30,32,33} Four immunophenotypic subtypes of BCP-ALL were identified according to EGIL classification (B-I, B-II, B-III, B-IV).³⁴ We excluded mature B-ALL (B-IV) with L3 morphology and “Burkitt type” *MYC* rearrangement as per therapeutic protocol.²⁷

MFC-MRD was performed as previously described²⁹ (see “Supplemental data”) on D15 (BM) according to the therapeutic protocol²⁷ and experimentally on D8 (PB), D33 (BM), and D78 (BM) using leftover material whenever available. We defined MRD positivity as a cluster of at least 10 events with lymphoid-scattering properties and leukemia-associated immunophenotypic characteristics as previously reported.²⁹

To measure DNA-ploidy by MFC (DNA-index), 500,000 mononuclear cells were stained by propidium iodide and analyzed by flow-cytometry, as previously described.⁸

c. PCR-MRD evaluation

IG/TR gene rearrangements were identified by PCR and used as markers to monitor MRD by real-time quantitative PCR (RQ-PCR), as previously described.^{35,36}

Briefly, DNA samples obtained at diagnosis were screened for IG/TR rearrangements. We designed allele-specific oligonucleotide primers to complement the junctional region sequence of each target. We tested MRD-PCR targets and selected two of them for each patient. A reproducible sensitivity of at least 10^{-4} was required for at least one marker.^{35,36} We performed and interpreted RQ-PCR analyses according to the *European Study Group for MRD detection in ALL* (EuroMRD ALL) guidelines.³⁶

d. Remission induction treatment

Induction IA-~~therapy~~ consisted of a 7-day monotherapy with prednisone and one dose of intrathecal methotrexate, then associated with vincristine (4 doses), daunorubicin (4 doses; in non-high risk patients either *ETV6::RUNX1*-positive or MFC-MRD on induction D15 <0.1%: randomized 2 versus 4 doses), PEG-asparaginase (2 doses) and intrathecal methotrexate (2 doses for CNS1, ~~patients~~; 4 doses in CNS2 and CNS3 patients. ~~Please see~~ See “Supplemental data” for the definition of CNS involvement). Remission induction was followed by consolidation phase IB (consolidation).

e. Validation cohort from the iBFM Centers

After defining the main features of pediatric CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL in the AIEOP cohort, we built up a datasheet to retrospectively collect data on pediatric BCP-ALL from those iBFM-~~FN-Flow Network~~ Gcenters which also had integrated CD371 assessment into the diagnostic work-up (Vienna, n=269; Kiel, n=537, Prague, n=163). The inclusion criteria were (1) enrolment in the AIEOP-BFM ALL 2009 protocol, and (2) use of CD371 monoclonal antibody (MoAb) in the panel for immunophenotyping at diagnosis. Datasheets were compiled by each iBFM center according to the sample analysis performed on site and centralized to the Padova Lab for data curation and elaboration. Additionally, within the validation cohort, B-other ALLs from the Austrian and Czech cohorts were screened for ~~*DUX4*^{pos} rearrangements~~ by RNA-sequencing¹⁵ or *DUX4* positivity was excluded (*DUX4*^{neg}) by the presence of other subtype-specific genetic alterations detected by fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH), SNP array analysis, RT-PCR or mutation screening.

f. Statistical analysis

Descriptive methods were applied to present data, with frequencies and percentages for dichotomous and categorical variables (with categories defined according to standard criteria) and median, range, mean, and standard deviation, as appropriate, for continuous variables. The Chi-square or Fisher exact tests for group-wise comparisons of categorical variables were applied (depending on expected cell values above or below five), respectively. Two-sided p-values lower than 0.05 were ~~considered to be regarded as~~ statistically significant.

Outcome analysis was based on CD371 status at diagnosis [CD371^{pos} vs. CD371 negative (CD371^{neg})] and performed on the entire group of patients included in the screening and validation cohorts. Event-free survival (EFS) was defined as the ~~interval to~~ from diagnosis until treatment failure due to ~~any cause (death before complete remission, resistance induction failure,~~ relapse, death in remission, or second malignancy) whichever occurred first or until the date of ~~to~~ the last contact, if failure-free. Cumulative incidence of relapse refers to time until relapse, considering all other events as competing ones. ~~Cumulative incidence of relapsed/refractory disease (CIR) refers to the time to any ALL relapse/refractory disease. Death in remission was considered the competing event.~~

The statistical analysis was performed using SAS v 9.4 software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA).

g. Data sharing statement

For original data, please contact barbara.buldini@unipd.it

Results

a. Features of CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL in the AIEOP cohort at diagnosis

Out of 883 BCP-ALL patients enrolled in the study period, 843 (95.5%) were evaluated for CD371 expression at diagnosis. The CD371 antigen was positive in 76 patients (9.0%) of which 69 were strong~~ly~~-positive, 5 weak~~ly~~-positive, and 2 only partially~~ly~~-positive. CD371^{pos} ~~positivity~~ was significantly more frequent among older children (≥ 10 years, $p < 0.001$), and in the presence of DNA-index = 1.00 ($p < 0.001$), ~~diploidy (DNA index = 1, $p < 0.001$).~~ No significant difference in CD371

expression was found according to gender, ~~PB~~peripheral white blood-cell count at diagnosis, and ~~the presence of a~~ *KMT2A::AFF1* rearrangement, while an *ETV6::RUNX1* fusion gene was detected less frequently in CD371^{pos} than in CD371^{neg} BCP-ALL ($p < 0.001$). *TCF3::PBX1* rearrangement was not identified in the analyzed CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL cohort (Table 1).

In CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL, the immunophenotype at diagnosis showed an earlier stage of differentiation, as per EGIL classification ($p < 0.001$) (Table 1). Moreover, CD371 positivity was associated with strong expression of CD34 ($p = 0.013$), CD45 ($p < 0.001$), and CD58 ($p = 0.014$), and the aberrant expression of at least one myeloid marker out of CD11b, CD14, CD15, CD33, CD64, CD65, iMPO, iLysozyme, CD13, and CD117 ($p < 0.001$) (Table 2). No differences were observed in the distribution of ~~7 cases of~~ biphenotypic acute leukemia (BAL) according to EGIL classification and mixed-phenotype acute leukemia (MPAL) by WHO definition (Table 1), ~~between CD371^{pos} and CD371^{neg} BCP-ALL cases, as well as of 24 cases of mixed-phenotype acute leukemia (MPAL) by WHO definition (Table 1)~~. Finally, we found a significant association between CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL and the aberrant expression of the CD2 antigen ($p < 0.001$) (Table 2).

b. MFC-MRD evaluation of CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL in the AIEOP cohort

Of the 76 CD371^{pos} BCP-ALLs at diagnosis, 73 samples (96.1%) were evaluable for MFC-MRD on D15 of induction ~~therapy~~; 3 samples did not reach the minimum of events (acquired nucleated cells) required to obtain an MRD sensitivity threshold of 1×10^{-4} and were ~~thus~~ excluded from the final analysis. Additionally, we performed MFC-MRD during induction ~~therapy~~ in 43 (58.9%) PB samples on D8, and ~~in~~ 40 (54.8%) and 54 (74.0%) BM samples on D33 and D78, respectively. When assessed, CD371 expression was always present with no downregulation in those samples still positive for ~~blasts~~ cells during induction ~~therapy~~ (39 samples), confirming CD371 ~~asto be~~ a useful marker for MRD detection in ~~this subtype of~~ CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL (Supplemental Figure 1).

During the first 15 days of induction ~~therapy~~, we observed in ~~the~~ PB/BM of CD371^{pos} samples the appearance of a population characterized by a strong expression of CD34, CD58 and CD45, downregulation of CD19, and increased SSC signal. This phenomenon was interpreted as a myelomonocytic switch (mm-SW). It displayed two different patterns: (1) a single population of blasts with heterogeneous

expression of CD19 (strong to weak/negative) (Figure 1A); (2) two distinct populations of blast cells, with the first keeping the immunophenotype of diagnosis (unchanged lymphoblasts), and the second showing a downregulation of CD19 and CD34, an upregulation of CD45 and an increase of SSC (SW-blasts) (Figure 1B). Importantly, in the same samples, morphology assessment always revealed the presence of monocytes at different maturation stages (from monoblasts to mature monocytes) with no clear malignant aberrant morphological features (Figure 2). Moreover, we tested two cases of the two-population pattern SW samples with an extensive panel including myeloid and monocytic markers: only SW-blasts showed positivity of monocytic antigens CD14, CD11b, CD33, ~~all that were~~ negative at diagnosis (Supplemental Figure 2).

Additionally, both unchanged lymphoblasts and SW-blasts, when selected by cell-sorting, shared identical IG/TR rearrangements with blast cells detected at diagnosis (Supplemental Figure 3).

With a detection limit of 1×10^{-4} , we identified a mm-SW (mm-SW^{pos}) in 26 of 43 samples (60.5%) on D8 (PB), 51 of 73 samples (69.9%) on D15 (BM), and 1 of 40 samples (2.5%) on D33 (BM). On the 156 samples analyzed by MFC-MRD on Day 8, 15, and 33, 73 and 5 displayed the two-population or one-population mm-SW, respectively (see “Supplemental data” and Supplemental Table 2 for details). In our cohort, no switch (mm-SW^{neg}) was observed on D78 (BM) (Table 3). Of note, chemotherapy was always administered as per AIEOP-BFM ALL 2009 protocol ~~in all the patients~~. Of the 26 mm-SW^{pos} samples on D8, 25 (96.2%) were still mm-SW^{pos} on D15, and 1 also on D33. Of the 17 mm-SW^{neg} samples on D8, 6 (35.3%) ~~5 (29.4%)~~ turned into mm-SW^{pos} on D15 (Figure 3).

A transient mm-SW was observed also in 4 of 767 (0.5%) CD371^{neg} BCP-ALLs, all showing an immunophenotype only partially overlapping (B-II ALL; absence of CD371 and CD2; weaker expression of CD45) with CD371^{pos} samples.

c. CD371 and CD2 positivity at diagnosis predicts myelomonocytic switch

Although there was a significant association between CD371 and CD2 expression at diagnosis ($p < 0.001$), in our cohort CD2 was detected in 50.0% of the CD371^{pos} samples (Table 2).

We analyzed CD371 and CD2 independently to understand which antigen at diagnosis could better predict the mm-SW (Supplemental Table 32). Thirty-one of

the 41 (75.6%) CD2^{pos} BCP-ALLs at diagnosis showed a mm-SW on D15: all of them were CD371^{pos}. Twenty-four of 789 (3.0%) CD2^{neg} samples at diagnosis presented a mm-SW on D15, and these were all CD371^{pos}.

Only 4 of the 757 (0.5%) samples from CD371^{neg} BCP-ALL at diagnosis showed a mm-SW on D15; and notably all of them were CD2^{neg}.

Consequently, in the AIEOP cohort, CD371 was more sensitive than CD2 (sensitivity 0.93 vs. 0.56) in predicting a mm-SW on D15 with a similar specificity (0.97 vs. 0.99).

d. Response to the induction and consolidation therapy and final risk grouping

CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL exhibited a worse early response to chemotherapy according to AIEOP-BFM ALL 2009 protocol as compared to CD371^{neg} BCP-ALL, based on MRD evaluation on D15, D33 (TP1), and D78 (TP2) (Table 4). A significantly higher proportion of CD371^{pos} versus CD371^{neg} patients were enrolled in the final high-risk therapeutic arm ($p < 0.001$), mainly due to a significantly higher proportion of patients classified as slow early responders (MRD-SER) ($p < 0.001$) (Table 4) (see “Supplemental data” and Supplemental Table 4 for details). ~~Additional details on high-risk features in the AIEOP cohort are summarized in Supplemental Table 3.~~

e. Validation cohort from the iBFM Flow Network

A total of 969 pediatric patients with newly diagnosed BCP-ALL (median age 5.1 years, range 1-<18 years) were enrolled in the present study from the other iBFM-~~FN-Flow Network~~ centers. Of these, 84 (8.7%) were CD371^{pos} and 885 (91.3%) were CD371^{neg} at diagnosis. As in the screening cohort, CD371^{pos} at diagnosis was associated with older age, a peculiar immunophenotype, absence of *TCF3::PBX1* and *ETV6::RUNX1* rearrangements, and no differences in the distribution of gender and *KMT2A::AFF1* rearrangement compared to CD371^{neg} ALLs (Tables 2, 4, and 5). ~~As already shown in the AIEOP BCP-ALL cohort, CD371^{pos} at diagnosis was associated with older age (median age 9.38 years in CD371^{pos} patients vs. 4.64 years in CD371^{neg} patients). Analogously to the AIEOP cohort, no difference was found in the distribution of gender and *KMT2A::FF1* rearrangement between CD371^{pos} and CD371^{neg} patients. iBFM data confirmed a low frequency of the *ETV6::RUNX1* rearrangement (no cases in the validation cohort, $p < 0.001$) and the absence of *TCF3::PBX1* in the CD371^{pos} group (Table 5).~~

~~Similarly to the AIEOP cohort, in the iBFM CD371^{pos} BCP-ALLs the immunophenotype at diagnosis showed the following features: (1) an earlier stage of differentiation as defined by EGIL classification ($p < 0.001$) (Table 4), (2) a strong expression of CD34 ($p < 0.001$) and CD45 ($p < 0.001$), (3) the aberrant expression of at least one of the myeloid markers CD11b, CD14, CD15, CD33, CD64, CD65, iMPO, iLysozyme, CD13, CD117 ($p < 0.001$), and (4) the aberrant expression of the CD2 antigen ($p < 0.001$) (Table 2). In the iBFM cohort, CD371 expression at diagnosis was associated with BAL as per EGIL classification ($p = 0.006$), but not with MPAL status by WHO definition (Table 5).~~

~~During induction and consolidation therapy, MFC-MRD was assessed in 165 samples collected at different re-evaluation time-points from CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL patients at diagnosis, and 68 of them (41.2%) showed mm-SW [D8: 16 of 21 samples (76.2%); D15: 49 of 80 samples (61.3%); D33: 3 of 32 samples (9.4%)]. No switch was detected on D78 (Table 3). Specifically, mm-SW was observed in 16 of 21 samples (76.2%) on D8, 49 of 80 samples (61.3%) on D15, and only in 3 of 32 samples (9.4%) on D33. No switch was detected on D78 (Table 3).~~

~~In the The iBFM-FN cohort, we also confirmed the association between CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL and a worse response to induction and consolidation therapy [final therapeutic high-risk group: 44 of 84 (52.4%) CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL vs. 172 of 877 (19.6%) available CD371^{neg} BCP-ALL, $p < 0.001$] (Table 4). Of note, the iBFM-FN CD371^{pos} BCP-ALLs showed a higher proportion of high-risk by morphology on D8, MFC-MRD on D15, and PCR-MRD on D33/D78 than AIEOP samples. Since the two cohorts included patients consecutively enrolled in the same therapeutic protocol with no selection biases, these differences, not present in the CD371^{neg} subgroup, could reasonably depend on the small number of samples of the CD371^{pos} subgroups.~~

~~Finally, we investigated the presence of *DUX4* gene rearrangements (*DUX4*^{pos}) or excluded the presence of *DUX4* rearrangement (*DUX4*^{neg}) by its mutual exclusivity from other subtype-specific genetic alterations in 420 samples at diagnosis from the Austrian and Czech cohorts. Among these, Finally, on a total of 420 samples, 27 of 28 *DUX4*^{pos} vs. 7 of 387 *DUX4*^{neg} samples were CD371^{pos}, confirming CD371 as a sensitive and specific surrogate immunophenotype marker of *DUX4*^{pos} alterations in BCP-ALLs (Supplemental Table 54).~~

f. Outcome analysis

In a total of 1796 patients (158 CD371^{pos} and 1638 CD371^{neg} at diagnosis) from the screening and validation cohorts, the 5-year EFS was 88.3% in CD371^{pos} ~~BCP-ALLs~~ vs. 82.4% in CD371^{neg} BCP-ALLs (p=0.07), with a 5-year CIR of 6.4% vs. 14.3%, respectively (p=0.006) (Figure 4; Supplemental Figure 4). Analysing separately patients enrolled in the final high-risk (390 patients) and non-high risk (standard and intermediate, 1406 patients) group, the 5-year EFS was always superior in CD371^{pos} BCP-ALLs but significantly so only in the high-risk group (Supplemental Figure 5).

Discussion

This is the first study that extensively describes the biological and clinical features of a large multi-center cohort of CD371^{pos} BCP-ALLs. CD371 is usually expressed on normal monocytes, granulocytes, basophils, most AML blasts, and leukemiae stem cells.¹⁰⁻¹³

In our cohort CD371 positivity at diagnosis identified a specific subtype of BCP-ALL, with peculiar clinical and biological features accounting for about 9.0% of pediatric BCP-ALL patients. First, CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL was not associated with any of the traditional high-risk features of BCP-ALL at diagnosis, including hypodiploidy, *KMT2A::AFF1* rearrangement, or hyperleukocytosis. ~~Of note, we~~We did not analyse a potential association between CD371 positivity at diagnosis and *BCR::ABL1* ~~BCP-ALL~~, this fusion transcript being an exclusion criterion from the AIEOP-BFM ALL 2009 protocol. CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL was more frequent in children with age ≥ 10 years, which is not a high-risk criterion in AIEOP-BFM ALL 2009 protocol.

The immunophenotype at diagnosis showed some peculiarities. A considerable proportion of CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL (13.2%) belonged to the immature group B-I ALL as per EGIL classification and there was a trend toward weaker CD10 expression among EGIL B-II cases (data not shown). Yet, CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL showed a brighter intensity of CD34, CD45, and CD58 at diagnosis as compared to CD371^{neg} BCP-ALL cases. Altogether, these peculiar features suggest more immaturity and ~~thus~~ a potentially higher plasticity of CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL, with a propensity to mm-SW under therapeutic pressure.

In our study, with all AIEOP and other iBFM ~~FN~~ cases cumulated, we observed a mm-SW in 42/64 (65.6%) of the available CD371^{pos} samples on D8, 100/153 (65.4%)

of samples on D15, and 4/72 (5.6%) of samples on D33, whereas we did not detect it on D78 (Table 3). The mm-SW was characterized by downregulation of CD19 and CD34, further upregulation of CD45, an increase of SSC, and strong expression of CD58. These changes appear to be related to the more general phenomenon of antigen expression modulation induced by ALL therapy, ~~which has been~~ described previously.³⁷⁻⁴⁰ Considering its potential impact on MFC-MRD analysis and the resulting risk group assignment, we established a systematic approach to optimize switch detection and increase reproducibility. Indeed, the assessment of mm-SW during MRD monitoring is challenging. We classified the mm-SW in two distinct patterns: a one-population ~~pattern~~ and a two-populations pattern. When one-population was detected, it shared antigens of BCP- and myelomonocytic lineages, with a change in lymphoid antigen expression levels (SW-blasts only). More challenging was the detection of the two-populations pattern (consisting of SW-blasts and unchanged lymphoblasts) and its impact on MFC-MRD quantification on D15. These observations led to two clinically relevant questions. First, whether the SW-blast population (CD19 downregulated, CD45 bright) should be considered as part of ~~blasts cells~~ and included in MFC-MRD quantification. Based on our findings, we recommend including it in the MFC-MRD final blast count on D15. This choice is due to the consideration that the mm-SW immunophenotype suggested a direct link with lymphoblasts, keeping, although downregulated, CD19 positivity. Additionally, we demonstrated that SW-blasts and unchanged lymphoblasts shared the same IG/TR rearrangements. Since the mm-SW blast population proportion varied widely, its appearance may deeply influence the final extent of MFC-MRD on D15 and consequently risk group definition. In addition, standard morphology (e.g., at D8) may underestimate the amount of ~~blasts cells~~ in the presence of a population of monocytes at different maturation stages, lacking clear malignant morphological features ~~of blast cells~~ (Figure 2).

The second question is whether in the presence of a preponderant mm-SW blast population chemotherapy should be changed to a myeloid leukemia schema. This option was never considered neither in the AIEOP nor in the iBFM-FN groups, attributing the origin of the SW-blast population to lymphoblastic cells. This choice is supported by Hrusak et al.⁴¹ treatment strategies for ambiguous lineage leukemias. Importantly, the mm-SW does not constitute a permanent and complete switch to the myeloid lineage as in KMT2A-rearranged ALLs but is always transient, characterized

by the co-expression of B- and MM-lineage immunophenotypic features, and limited to the first phase of induction ~~therapy~~. Therefore, when chemotherapy was always continued according to ALL treatment with no shift to AML protocol, differently from what is generally considered for KMT2A-positive-SW cases.^{18,24,25} ~~Of note, h~~However, CD371^{pos} BCP-ALLs showed a slower response to the induction ~~therapy~~ in comparison to CD371^{neg} BCP-ALL. The significantly higher rate of patients enrolled in the final high-risk therapeutic arm well described this phenomenon. Furthermore, the high incidence of MRD-SER in the evaluation of PCR-MRD on D33 and D78 was a special feature of CD371^{pos} BCP-ALLs. These findings suggest both a reduced sensitivity of CD371^{pos} blasts ~~cells~~ to the drug combination administered during the first phase of ~~chemotherapy treatment~~ and ~~hypothesize~~ a driving role of steroid therapy in the mm-SW.

Notably, CD371 expression in BCP-ALL was found very recently to be strongly associated with DUX4^{pos} gene rearrangements,¹⁵ and ~~associated with~~ a good long-term outcome.⁴²⁻⁴⁴ Our study clearly confirmed the association between CD371 strong positivity and the DUX4^{pos} subtype whereas a weak expression of CD371 was observed in a few cases with other in different genotypes. Additionally, our survival analysis showed a good prognosis in the CD371^{pos} subgroup, even in the high-risk group, always continuing on ALL-directed therapy without any changes to a myeloid-oriented treatment. Therefore, our study supports the hypothesis of a direct biological link between DUX4^{pos} and CD371 strong expression. This makes CD371 could be a suitable immunophenotype surrogate marker to identify blasts with a specific genetic lesion and biological behavior, potentially requiring a more intense treatment in the first phase of chemotherapy to reach a good long-term prognosis, similar to what has been described in early T-cell precursor (ETP) ALL.⁴⁵ Regarding the mm-SW, it was observed also in CD371 weak-positive BCP-ALLs in our cohorts as well as very rarely also in CD371-negative cases. Therefore, further studies are necessary to define the biological role of CD371 expression and DUX4^{pos} in mm-SW. The inferior response to induction ~~therapy~~ highlights the importance of detecting accurate predictors of mm-SW. Slamova et al.¹⁶ associated lineage switch with the aberrant expression of CD2 at diagnosis. Consequently, we investigated which marker, CD2 or CD371, might better predict this phenomenon. In the AIEOP cohort, despite both antigens showing high accuracy, CD371 was a more sensitive predictor of mm-SW than CD2. Therefore, we believe that detecting CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL at

diagnosis and accurately monitoring MFC-MRD on D15 is still critical for identifying precociously a subgroup of pediatric leukemia with the tendency to an inferior response to induction and consolidation and providing useful information for a more accurate prognostic communication to patients' caregivers. This said, considering the overall favourable outcome of pediatric CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL, further studies are necessary to establish whether the advancement in genomics and MRD techniques will confirm the role of D15 time-point for risk group stratification in this leukemia subtype and which leukemia-derived cell types must be monitored in particular.

Our study had some limitations. We used different MoAb panels for MFC-MRD detection in different time periods. Moreover, MFC-MRD MoAb panels did not include monocyte-lineage markers like CD14, CD15, CD64, CD11b/c. The introduction of some of these markers may help ~~to~~ discriminate the SW-blast population from normal monocytic counterparts.

In conclusion, in the largest pediatric cohort described so far, we comprehensively described the biological and clinical features of CD371^{pos} BCP-ALLs characterized by a potential mm-SW during the first phase of induction ~~therapy~~. Accurate identification of mm-SW is mandatory to properly assess MFC-MRD on D15 in CD371^{pos} patients. This is of particular importance since, in our cohort, CD371^{pos} BCP-ALLs showed a slower response to induction ~~chemotherapy~~ and led to a higher rate of patients included in the high-risk therapeutic group compared to CD371^{neg} BCP-ALLs. Expression of CD371 antigen is an accurate predictor of mm-SW in BCP-ALL, with high sensitivity and specificity. Chemotherapy should be continued according to an ALL-therapeutic protocol even in the presence of a prevalent SW-blast population during the mm-SW, a statement supported by the favourable outcome of CD371^{pos} BCP-ALL ~~as~~ shown herein.

Finally, based on our findings, we suggest the introduction of CD371 assessment in both BCP-ALL immunophenotyping at diagnosis and during MFC-MRD monitoring ~~induction therapy~~.

Acknowledgements

This study was conceived and pursued by the iBFM Flow Network. We thank Giampietro Viola for performing DNA-index analysis, Daniela Silvestri for the critical contribution to data analysis, all patients and their families, and clinical teams

involved in this study, Fondazione CARIPARO, Fondazione Città della Speranza, and Fondazione M. Tettamanti De Marchi for their support.

This work was supported by grants from the Fondazione CARIPARO (Grant/Award Numbers: FCR 20/12) (B.B.), and the Anniversary Fund of the Oesterreichische Nationalbank (OeNB 18281; S.S.).

Authorship

Contributions: conceptualization: B.B., G.B., M.N.D.; formal analysis: B.B., E.V., G.B., M.N.D.; patient management and data collection: B.B., G.G., M.B., G.C., O.H., S.S., D.S., M.Z., L.K., J.-P.B., T.F., G.C., J.A., A.M., A. Biffi, R.P., F.F., A. Biondi, F.L., A.A., M.S., V.C., G.B., M.N.D. data curation: M.M.-G., A.S., E.M, G.C., M.S., P.S.; statistical analysis: M.Z., M.G.V.; writing: original draft preparation: B.B., E.V.; writing: review and editing: B.B., E.V., F.L., V.C., A.M., G.B., M.N.D.; figure preparation: E.V., M.G.V.; supervision: B.B., G.B., M.N.D.; project administration: B.B., G.B., M.N.D., funding acquisition: B.B., S.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest disclosure: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. M.B. received personal fees from Incyte and Roche Pharma AG (advisory board), financial support for reference diagnostics from Affimed and Regeneron, grants and personal fees from Amgen (advisory board, speakers bureau, travel support), and personal fees from Janssen (speakers bureau), all outside the submitted work.

Giuseppe Basso died on February 16, 2021, during the preparation of the present manuscript.

Correspondence: Barbara Buldini, Pediatric Hematology, Oncology and Stem Cell Transplant Division, Maternal and Child Health Department, University of Padova, Via Giustiniani 3, 35128 Padova, Italy; e-mail: barbara.buldini@unipd.it

References

1. Siegel DA, Henley SJ, Li J, Pollack LA, Van Dyne EA, White A. Rates and trends of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia - United States, 2001-2014. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2017;66(36):950-954.

2. Ward E, DeSantis C, Robbins A, Kohler B, Jemal A. Childhood and adolescent cancer statistics, 2014. *CA Cancer J Clin*. 2014;64(2):83-103.
3. Möricke A, Zimmermann M, Reiter A, et al. Long-term results of five consecutive trials in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia performed by the ALL-BFM study group from 1981 to 2000. *Leukemia*. 2010;24(2):265-284.
4. Hunger SP, Lu X, Devidas M, et al. Improved survival for children and adolescents with acute lymphoblastic leukemia between 1990 and 2005: a report from the children's oncology group. *J Clin Oncol*. 2012;30(14):1663-1669.
5. Schmiegelow K, Forestier E, Hellebostad M, et al. Long-term results of NOPHO ALL-92 and ALL-2000 studies of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*. 2010;24(2):345-354.
6. Locatelli F, Schrappe M, Bernardo ME, Rutella S. How I treat relapsed childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood*. 2012;120(14):2807-2816.
7. Basso G, Buldini B, De Zen L, Orfao A. New methodologic approaches for immunophenotyping acute leukemias. *Haematologica*. 2001;86(7):675-692.
8. Aricò M, Valsecchi MG, Rizzari C, et al. Long-term results of the AIEOP-ALL-95 Trial for Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: insight on the prognostic value of DNA index in the framework of Berlin-Frankfurt-Muenster based chemotherapy. *J Clin Oncol*. 2008;26(2):283-289.
9. Gaipa G, Basso G, Biondi A, Campana D. Detection of minimal residual disease in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom*. 2013;84(6):359-369.
10. Zhao X, Singh S, Pardoux C, et al. Targeting C-type lectin-like molecule-1 for antibody-mediated immunotherapy in acute myeloid leukemia. *Haematologica*. 2010;95(1):71-78.
11. Bakker AB, van den Oudenrijn S, Bakker AQ, et al. C-type lectin-like molecule-1: a novel myeloid cell surface marker associated with acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer Res*. 2004;64(22):8443-8450.
12. Marshall AS, Willment JA, Lin HH, Williams DL, Gordon S, Brown GD. Identification and characterization of a novel human myeloid inhibitory C-type lectin-like receptor (MICL) that is predominantly expressed on granulocytes and monocytes. *J Biol Chem*. 2004;279(15):14792-14802.

13. van Rhenen A, van Dongen GA, Kelder A, et al. The novel AML stem cell associated antigen CLL-1 aids in discrimination between normal and leukemic stem cells. *Blood*. 2007;110(7):2659-2666.
14. Leong SR, Sukumaran S, Hristopoulos M, et al. An anti-CD3/anti-CLL-1 bispecific antibody for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood*. 2017;129(5):609-618.
15. Schinnerl D, Mejstrikova E, Schumich A, et al. CD371 cell surface expression: a unique feature of DUX4-rearranged acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica*. 2019;104(8):e352-e355.
16. Slamova L, Starkova J, Fronkova E, et al. CD2-positive B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia with an early switch to the monocytic lineage. *Leukemia*. 2014;28(3):609-620.
17. Novakova M, Zaliova M, Fiser K, et al. DUX4r, ZNF384r and PAX5-P80R mutated B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia frequently undergo monocytic switch. *Haematologica*. 2021;106(8):2066-2075.
18. Rossi JG, Bernasconi AR, Alonso CN, et al. Lineage switch in childhood acute leukemia: an unusual event with poor outcome. *Am J Hematol*. 2012;87(9):890-897.
19. Dorantes-Acosta E, Pelayo R. Lineage switching in acute leukemias: a consequence of stem cell plasticity? *Bone Marrow Res*. 2012:406796. doi:10.1155/2012/406796
20. Imataki O, Ohnishi H, Yamaoka G, et al. Lineage switch from precursor B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia to acute monocytic leukemia at relapse. *Int J Clin Oncol*. 2010;15(1):112-115.
21. Gardner R, Wu D, Cherian S, et al. Acquisition of a CD19-negative myeloid phenotype allows immune escape of MLL-rearranged B-ALL from CD19 CAR-T-cell therapy. *Blood*. 2016;127(20):2406-2410.
22. Wolach O, Stone RM. How I treat mixed-phenotype acute leukemia. *Blood*. 2015;125(16):2477-2485.
23. Schrappe M, Hunger SP, Pui CH, et al. Outcomes after induction failure in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *N Engl J Med*. 2012;366(15):1371-1381.
24. Germano G, Pigazzi M, del Giudice L, et al. Two consecutive immunophenotypic switches in a child with MLL-rearranged acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica*. 2006;91(5 Suppl):ECR09.

25. Hutter C, Attarbaschi A, Fischer S, et al. Acute monocytic leukaemia originating from MLL-MLLT3-positive pre-B cells. *Br J Haematol*. 2010;150(5):621-623.
26. Monma F, Nishii K, Ezuki S, et al. Molecular and phenotypic analysis of Philadelphia chromosome-positive bilineage leukemia: possibility of a lineage switch from T-lymphoid leukemic progenitor to myeloid cells. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet*. 2006;164(2):118-121.
27. Schrappe M. International collaborative treatment protocol for children and adolescents with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. <https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT0111744>. Accessed 27 July 2023.
28. Dworzak MN, Buldini B, Gaipa G, et al. AIEOP-BFM consensus guidelines 2016 for flow cytometric immunophenotyping of Pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom*. 2018;94(1):82-93.
29. Dworzak MN, Gaipa G, Ratei R, et al. Standardization of flow cytometric minimal residual disease evaluation in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: Multicentric assessment is feasible. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom*. 2008;74(6):331-340.
30. Arber DA, Orazi A, Hasserjian R, et al. The 2016 revision to the World Health Organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. *Blood*. 2016;127(20):2391-2405.
31. Béné MC, Nebe T, Bettelheim P, et al. Immunophenotyping of acute leukemia and lymphoproliferative disorders: a consensus proposal of the European LeukemiaNet Work Package 10. *Leukemia*. 2011;25(4):567-574.
32. Swerdlow S, Campo E, Lee Harris N, et al. WHO Classification of Tumours of Haematopoietic and Lymphoid Tissues. Revised 4th Edition. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer (AIRC); 2017.
33. Mejstrikova E, Volejnikova J, Fronkova E, et al. Prognosis of children with mixed phenotype acute leukemia treated on the basis of consistent immunophenotypic criteria. *Haematologica*. 2010;95(6):928-935.
34. Bene MC, Castoldi G, Knapp W, et al. Proposals for the immunological classification of acute leukemias. European Group for the Immunological Characterization of Leukemias (EGIL). *Leukemia*. 1995;9(10):1783-1786.
35. Cazzaniga G, Songia S, Biondi A, Group EW. PCR Technology to Identify Minimal Residual Disease. *Methods Mol Biol*. 2021;2185:77-94.

36. van der Velden VH, Panzer-Grümayer ER, Cazzaniga G, et al. Optimization of PCR-based minimal residual disease diagnostics for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia in a multi-center setting. *Leukemia*. 2007;21(4):706-713.
37. Gaipa G, Basso G, Aliprandi S, et al. Prednisone induces immunophenotypic modulation of CD10 and CD34 in nonapoptotic B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom*. 2008;74(3):150-155.
38. Gaipa G, Basso G, Maglia O, et al. Drug-induced immunophenotypic modulation in childhood ALL: implications for minimal residual disease detection. *Leukemia*. 2005;19(1):49-56.
39. Dworzak MN, Schumich A, Printz D, et al. CD20 up-regulation in pediatric B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia during induction treatment: setting the stage for anti-CD20 directed immunotherapy. *Blood*. 2008;112(10):3982-3988.
40. Dworzak MN, Gaipa G, Schumich A, et al. Modulation of antigen expression in B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia during induction therapy is partly transient: evidence for a drug-induced regulatory phenomenon. Results of the AIEOP-BFM-ALL-FLOW-MRD-Study Group. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom*. 2010;78(3):147-153.
41. Hrusak O, de Haas V, Stancikova J, et al. International cooperative study identifies treatment strategy in childhood ambiguous lineage leukemia. *Blood*. 2018;132(3):264-276.
42. Mullighan CG. How advanced are we in targeting novel subtypes of ALL? *Best Pract Res Clin Haematol*. 2019;32(4):101095. doi:10.1016/j.beha.2019.101095
43. Jeha S, Choi J, Roberts KG, et al. Clinical significance of novel subtypes of acute lymphoblastic leukemia in the context of minimal residual disease-directed therapy. *Blood Cancer Discov*. 2021;2(4):326-337.
44. Schwab C, Cranston RE, Ryan SL, et al. Integrative genomic analysis of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia lacking a genetic biomarker in the UKALL2003 clinical trial. *Leukemia*. 2023;37(3):529-538.
45. Conter V, Valsecchi MG, Buldini B, et al. Early T-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in children treated in AIEOP centres with AIEOP-BFM protocols: a retrospective analysis. *Lancet Haematol*. 2016;3(2):e80-e86.

Tables

Table 1. Patients and leukemia main features at diagnosis in the screening cohort.

Variable	Total pts		CD371 ^{pos} pts		CD371 ^{neg} pts		P-value
	n°	%	n°	%	n°	%	
Total	843	100	76	9.0	767	91.0	
Age							< 0.001
1-9 years	676	80.2	41	54.0	635	82.8	
10-17 years	167	19.8	35	46.0	132	17.2	
Gender							0.770
Male	457	54.2	40	52.6	417	54.4	
Female	386	45.8	36	47.4	350	45.6	
WBC count							0.240
<20 x 10 ⁹ /L	614	72.6	61	80.3	550	71.8	
20-99 x 10 ⁹ /L	186	22.1	11	14.5	175	22.8	
≥100 x 10 ⁹ /L	45	5.3	4	5.2	41	5.4	
DNA index							<0.001
=1.00	514	61.2	66	88.0	445	58.6	
≠1.00	324	38.8	9	12.0	315	41.4	
WBC count							0.080
< 50 x 10 ⁹ /L	734	87.1	71	93.4	663	86.5	
50-99 x 10 ⁹ /L	63	7.5	1	1.3	62	8.1	
≥ 100 x 10 ⁹ /L	45	5.3	4	5.3	41	5.4	
DNA index							<0.001
<0.8	7	0.8	0		7	0.9	
≥0.8 <1	0		0		0		
= 1.00	511	61.2	66	88.0	445	58.6	
>1 <1.16	111	13.3	2	2.7	109	14.3	
≥1.16	206	24.7	7	9.3	199	26.2	
Fusion genes							
<i>ETV6::RUNX1</i>	191	23.1	1	1.4	190	25.2	< 0.001
<i>TCF3::PBX1</i>	30	3.7	0	0.0	30	4.1	0.100
<i>KMT2A::AFF1</i>	6	0.7	1	1.4	5	0.7	0.430
Immunophenotype at diagnosis (EGIL)							<0.001
BI-ALL	22	2.6	10	13.2	12	1.6	

BII-ALL	635	75.3	66	86.8	569	74.2	
BIII-ALL	186	22.1	0	0.0	186	24.2	
Ambiguous leukemia							
BAL (EGIL)	7	0.8	1	1.3	6	0.8	0.490
MPAL (WHO)	24	2.8	3	4.0	21	2.7	0.540

Data not available: WBC count: 1 patient; DNA index: 8 patients; BAL: 2 patients

Abbreviations: ALL: acute lymphoblastic leukemia; BAL: biphenotypic leukemia; MPAL: mixed-phenotype leukemia; n°: number; neg: negative; pos: positive; pts: patients; WBC: white blood cell; %: percentage.

Table 2. Immunophenotype at diagnosis: distribution of antigen expression intensity in CD371+ and CD371- BCP-ALL.

Variable	Total n°	Screening cohort				P	Validation cohort					P*	
		CD371 ^{pos}		CD371 ^{neg}			Total n°	CD371 ^{pos}		CD371 ^{neg}			P
Total	843	76	9.0	767	91.0	-	969	84	8.7	885	91.3	-	0.795
CD45						<0.001						<0.001	
STRONG	258	50	65.8	208	27.2		169	30	85.7	139	35.0		0.674
WEAK	457	24	31.6	433	56.6		200	5	14.3	195	49.1		0.114
PP	2	1	1.3	1	0.1		-						
NEG	124	1	1.3	123	16.1		63	0		63	15.9		1.000
NOT DONE	2	0		2			537	49		488			
CD19						0.099						0.199	
STRONG	819	74	97.4	745	97.1		963	83	98.8	880	99.4		0.757
WEAK	23	1	1.3	22	2.9		4	0		4	0.5		1.000
PP	1	1	1.3	0			-						
NEG	0						2	1	1.2	1	0.1		
CD10						<0.001						<0.001	
STRONG	786	55	72.4	731	95.3		909	63	75.0	846	95.5		0.211
WEAK	22	9	11.8	13	1.7		34	14	16.7	20	2.3		0.984
PP	13	2	2.6	11	1.4		-						
NEG	22	10	13.2	12	1.6		26	7	8.3	19	2.2		0.186
CD58						0.014						0.380	
STRONG	749	73	96.1	676	88.5		687	64	97.0	623	98.3		0.077
WEAK	82	1	1.3	81	10.6		12	2	3.0	10	1.5		0.042
PP	1	1	1.3	0			-						
NEG	8	1	1.3	7	0.9		1	0		1	0.2		1.000
NOT DONE	3	0		3			270	18		251			
CD34						0.013						<0.001	
STRONG	645	68	89.5	577	75.9		659	78	92.9	581	65.7		0.459
WEAK	67	0		67	8.8		150	4	4.8	146	16.4		0.314
PP	45	6	7.9	39	5.1		-						
NEG	79	2	2.6	77	10.1		160	2	2.4	158	17.9		0.601
NOT DONE	7	0		7			-						
CD2						<0.001						<0.001	
STRONG	16	14	18.4	2	0.3		30	27	32.1	3	0.3		1.000
WEAK	17	16	21.1	1	0.1		84	20	23.8	64	7.2		<0.001
PP	8	8	10.5	0			-						
NEG	800	38	50.0	762	99.6		855	37	44.1	818	92.4		0.680
NOT DONE	2	0		2			-						
CD56						<0.001						<0.001	
STRONG	7	4	5.3	3	0.4		13	4	4.8	9	1.0		0.356
WEAK	13	7	9.2	6	0.8		67	14	16.7	53	6.0		0.014
PP	1	1	1.3	0			-						
NEG	811	64	84.2	747	98.8		889	66	78.5	823	93.0		0.717
NOT DONE	11	0		11			-						
MYELOID ANTIGENTS**						<0.001						<0.001	
YES	289	42	55.3	247	32.2		636	70	83.3	566	63.9		0.128
NO	554	34	44.7	520	67.8		333	14	16.7	319	36.0		0.218

Abbreviations: NEG: negative; NO: negativity of all myeloid antigens; POS: positive; PP: partially positivity; STRONG: strong positivity; WEAK: weak positivity; YES: any positivity (weak, strong, partial positive).

P*: comparison of variables distribution between screening (AIEOP) and validation (iBFM Flow Network) cohorts

****Any myeloid antigen of CD11b, CD14, CD15, CD33, CD64, CD65, MPO, LYSO, CD13, CD117**

Table 3. Distribution of myelomonocytic switch at different disease re-evaluation time points in CD371 positive BCP-ALL.

	Total		Screening cohort		Validation cohort		<i>P</i>
	n°	%	n°	%	n°	%	
Total CD371^{pos} at diagnosis	157		73	46.5	84	53.5	
Switch on Day 8							0.217
Yes	42	65.6	26	60.5	16	76.2	
No	22	34.4	17	39.5	5	23.8	
NA	93		30		63		
Switch on Day 15							0.265
Yes	100	65.4	51	69.9	49	61.3	
No	53	34.6	22	30.1	31	38.7	
NA	4		0		4		
Switch on Day 33							0.317
Yes	4	5.6	1	2.5	3	9.4	
No	68	94.4	39	97.5	29	90.6	
NA	85		33		52		
Switch on Day 78							
Yes	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	
No	86	100.0	54	100.0	32	100.0	
NA	71		19		52		

Abbreviations: n°: number of samples; pos: positive; %: percentage.

Table 4. Response to induction and consolidation therapy and risk group stratification according to AIEOP-BFM ALL 2009 protocol criteria.

Variable	Screening cohort					Validation cohort					P*		
	Total	CD371 ^{pos}		CD371 ^{neg}		P	Total	CD371 ^{pos}		CD371 ^{neg}		P	
	n°	n°	%	n°	%		n°	n°	%	n°		%	
Total	843	76	9.0	767	91.0		969	84	8.7	885	91.3	0.795	
Prednisone response						0.470						<0.001	
Good (PGR)	787	73	96.1	714	93.2		904	69	82.1	835	95.3	0.225	
Poor (PPR)	55	3	3.9	52	6.8		56	15	17.9	41	4.7	0.004	
NA	1	0		1			9	0		9			
MCF-MRD Day 15						0.0069-0.008						<0.001	
<0.1%	308	15	20.5	293	38.9		284	15	19.2	269	32.6	0.820	
≥0.1-<10%	431	46 47	63.06 4.4	384	50.9		515	42	53.8	473	57.4	0.149	
≥10%	88	12 14	16.54 5.1	77	10.2		103	21	26.9	82	10.0	0.147	
NA	16	3		13			67	6		61			
Response to induction IA						1.000						0.087	
CR Day 33	825	75	100.0	750	<u>98.7</u>		950	80	97.6	870	99.5	0.618	
Non-CR Day 33	10	0		10	<u>1.3</u>		6	2	2.4	4	0.5	0.125	
NA	8	1		7			13	2		11			
PCR-MRD final						< 0.001						<0.001	
Standard	273	11	14.9	262	35.7		337	6	7.3	331	38.5	0.094	
Medium	443	41	55.4	402	54.8		487	38	46.3	449	52.3	0.428	
MRD-SER	66	18	24.3	48	6.5		88	27	33.0	61	7.1	0.646	
High	25	4	5.4	21	3.0		29	11	13.4	18	2.1	0.126	
NA	36	2		34			28	2		26			
Final risk group						< 0.001						<0.001	
Standard	277	12	15.8	265	34.6		314	6	7.1	308	35.1	0.088	
Medium	390	37	48.7	353	46.0		431	34	40.5	397	45.3	0.416	
High	176	27	35.5	149	19.4		216	44	52.4	172	19.6	0.200	
NA	0						8	0		8			

Abbreviations: CD371^{pos}: any positivity (strong, weak, partially positive) of CD371 antigen at diagnosis; CD371^{neg}: negativity of CD371 antigen at diagnosis; MFC: multiparametric flow cytometry; MRD: minimal residual disease; PCR: polymerase chain reaction; SER: slow early response.

P*: comparison of variables distribution between screening (AIEOP) and validation (iBFM Flow Network) cohorts

Table 5. Patients and leukemia features at diagnosis in the validation (iBFM Flow Network) cohort.

Variable	Total n°	Validation cohort		CD371 ^{neg} n°	CD371 ^{neg} %	P
		CD371 ^{pos} n°	CD371 ^{pos} %			
Total	969	84	8.7	885	91.3	
Age						
Median	5.1	9.2		4.6		
Gender						0.286
Male	516	51	60.7	465	54.6	
Female	419	33	39.3	386	45.4	
NA	34	0		34	-	
Fusion genes						
<i>ETV6::RUNX1</i>	208	0	0.0	208	23.5	<0.001
<i>TCF3::PBX1</i>	27	0	0.0	27	2.7	0.152
<i>KMT2A::AFF1</i>	5	2	2.4	3	0.4	0.063
Immunophenotype at diagnosis (EGIL)						<0.001
BI-ALL	23	7	8.4	16	1.8	
BII-ALL	703	64	77.1	639	72.6	
BIII-ALL	232	12	14.5	220	25.0	
B-IV(non Burkitt)	5	0		5	0.6	
NA	6	1	-	5	-	
Ambiguous leukemia						
BAL (EGIL)	27	6	7.1	21	2.4	0.006
MPAL (WHO)	32	4	4.6	28	3.2	0.514

Abbreviations: ALL: acute lymphoblastic leukemia; BAL: biphenotypic acute leukemia; MPAL: mixed-phenotype acute leukemia; n°: number; pts: patients; %: percentage.

Figure legends

Figure 1. Myelomonocytic switch in CD371 positive BCP-ALL by flow cytometry. With the beginning of steroid treatment as per AIEOP-BFM ALL 2009 protocol, residual lymphoblastic cells showed a myelomonocytic switch. It displayed two different patterns: (A) single population of blast cells with heterogeneous expression of CD19 (single population pattern: orange population); (B) a two-populations pattern: the first population keeping the immunophenotype of the diagnosis (blue population); the second population showing a downregulation of CD19 and CD34, an upregulation of CD45, and an increase of SSC (orange population). Technical information: fluorochromes: CD19-PC7, CD10-APC/ALEXA700, CD20- V450, CD34-APC, CD58-FITC, CD371-PC5.5, CD45-V500; sample preparation and acquisition at ambient temperature; sample acquisition: Navios Flow Cytometer (Beckman Coulter, Inc., Brea, CA, USA); sample analysis: Software Kaluza 2.1 (Beckman Coulter, Inc., Brea, CA, USA). Please see “Supplemental data” for additional information.

Figure 2. CD371 positive BCP-ALL: standard morphology evaluation of a peripheral blood sample on Day 8 of induction therapy. Standard morphology of a CD371-positive BCP-ALL peripheral blood sample collected on Day 8 of induction therapy revealed a population of monocytes at different maturation stages. Technical information: sample preparation and acquisition at ambient temperature; cytochemical staining: May Grünwald Giemsa; microscope model: LEICA DM2000 LED (Leica Microsystem Srl, Buccinasco, MI, Italy); objective: Leica HC PL Fluotar 40x Objective (Leica Microsystem Srl, Buccinasco, MI, Italy); camera model: LEICA DMC4500 (Leica Microsystem Srl, Buccinasco, MI, Italy); picture acquisition software: LAS (Leica Application Suite) V4.13 (Leica Microsystem Srl, Buccinasco, MI, Italy)

Figure 3. Myelomonocytic switch evolution during induction and consolidation therapy as per AIEOP-BFM ALL 2009 protocol.

On a total of 73 CD371 positive BCP-ALL samples evaluable for MFC-MRD from the screening cohort (AIEOP), the myelomonocytic switch was observed (detection limit

1×10^{-4}) since the first re-evaluation time point on Day 8 or later on Day 15 and Day 33. It was never detected on Day 78 in the screening cohort.

Figure 4. Outcome analysis of CD371 positive vs. CD371 negative BCP-ALL.

In a total of 1796 patients (158 CD371 positive and 1638 CD371 negative at diagnosis) from the screening and validation cohorts, the 5-year EFS was 88.3% in CD371 positive BCP-ALLs vs. 82.4% in CD371 negative BCP-ALLs ($p=0.07$).